Jakubik

IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA



INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Thomas G. Pelham Deanna E. Boone THOMAS G. PELHAM, P.A. Post Office Box 3924 Tallahassee, FL 32315 Telephone: 904/386-3282

Attorneys for Appellants.

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants seek review of the final judgment of the lower court entered on September 10, 1984, validating the issuance by Lee County of Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds for improvements and additions to the combined and consolidated water and sewer system of the County.

On May 10, 1984, Lee County filed a complaint in the lower court, under Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, for validation of the issuance of not exceeding \$13,500,000 of Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1984, pursuant to Chapters 153, Part I, and 279, Florida Statutes. (A/E. B)

On May 16, 1984, the lower court issued an order pursuant to Section 75.05, Florida Statutes, directed against the state and the several property owners, taxpayers, citizens and others having or claiming any right, title or interest in property to be affected by the issuance of the Bonds, to appear on June 28, 1984, to show cause why the complaint should not be granted and the bonds validated. (A/E. C)

In response to the show cause order, Appellants filed an answer on June 28, 1984. (A/E. D) Appellants, Michael A. Yakubik, Donald S. Austin, Garrett Reasoner, Peter E. Bright, Elizabeth Stutzman, Portia Von Gunten, Maurice Thommassin, are residents and taxpayers of Lee County, Florida, who reside in and own property within the

-1-

Fort Myers Beach Sewer District ("FMBSD" or "District"), Appellant, Citizens Action Fund, Inc., is a Florida not-for-profit corporation whose membership consists of residents and taxpayers of Lee County, Florida, and the FMBSD. (A/E. Q)

The Appellants' answer contained four affirmative defenses. (A/E. D) Due to the complex and extensive nature of the issues raised by Appellants in their answer, the show cause hearing was postponed until August 2, 1984.

Lee County filed a motion on July 10, 1984, to strike Appellants' affirmative defenses. (A/E. E) On July 24, 1984, Appellants filed a motion for leave to amend the answer to add two more affirmative defenses. (A/E. F) Appellants' motion was granted by the trial court on August 2, 1984. Upon the oral motion of Appellants at the bond validation hearing, Appellant, Mr. Fennell Phillips, who is currently a citizen and resident of Lee County, and resides within the FMBSD, but who was not a resident or citizen of Lee County in 1978, was added as a Defendant without objection from the County. (A/T. 5, 81)

After the final hearing was held on August 2, 1984, the trial court entered a Final Judgment on September 10, 1984, validating the Revenue Bonds. (A/E. G) Despite the extent and complexity of the issues and the evidence presented in support thereof, the trial court's order routinely validated the Bonds. Without addressing a single

-2-

issue raised by Appellants, the lower court stated summarily on page 4 of the Final Judgment that the Appellants' Answer and Amended Answer showed no cause why the prayer of the Plaintiff should not be granted and disclosed no irregularity or illegality in the proceedings set forth in the Complaint. (A/E. G)

The notice of appeal of the September 10, 1984 final judgment validating the Revenue Bonds was filed by Appellants on October 8, 1984.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This appeal requires consideration of the lengthy history of the FMBSD and Lee County's attempt to combine or merge the FMBSD with the County sewer system and to issue bonds to expand the combined system.

#### A. CREATION OF THE FMBSD.

By resolution adopted on August 16, 1972, the Lee County Board of County Commissioners ("Board") established and designated a portion of the unincorporated area of Lee County as the Fort Myers Beach Sewer District. The FMBSD consisted of all of Estero Island-Fort Myers Beach and all of San Carlos Island. The Board expressly cited Chapter 153, Part I, Florida Statutes, and more particularly Section 153.08, Florida Statutes, as authority for the creation of the District. The August 16, 1972 resolution provided that construction of sewer facilities to serve the

-3-

FMBSD was deemed by the Board to be necessary and advisable for the health, safety and general welfare of the residents and premises located in the District. (A/E. H)

The FMBSD was established and treated by Lee County as a political subdivision of the State of Florida and a local governmental agency. Continuously since the creation of the FMBSD, the Lee County Board of County Commissioners has served as the ex officio governing body of the District and treated the the District as a special district. (A/E. L, M) For example, the Board listed the FMBSD as a "dependent special district" in Lee County's annual financial reports to the Comptroller of the State of Florida in 1982 and 1983. (A/E. P)

# B. <u>FINANCING FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE FMBSD SEWER</u> <u>SYSTEM</u>.

The Board obtained approval, by a majority of votes cast by qualified electors residing in the FMBSD at a bond election held on December 5, 1972, to issue general obligation bonds in an amount not to exceed \$8,930,000, to finance the estimated cost of constructing the sewer facility to serve the District. The official ballot stated that the bonds would be used to construct a sewer system to serve the FMBSD. According to the ballot, the bonds were to be payable from a special ad valorem tax levied annually on all taxable property within the portion of the unincorporated area of the County designated as the

-4-

FMBSD, provided, however, that surplus revenues would be used to lower the level of ad valorem taxes imposed on the FMBSD. (A/E. I)

Bond elections were also held in eight other districts similarly created by Lee County. Voters in seven of the districts rejected the issuance of bonds to construct sewer systems for their districts. Only the voters in the FMBSD and the South Fort Myers Sewer District ("SFMSD") approved the issuance of general obligation bonds to finance a sewer system to serve their districts. (A/T. 84-85)

By resolution adopted on January 13, 1973, the Board authorized the issuance of the general obligation bonds in the maximum amount of \$8,930,000, to pay the cost of the acquisition and construction of a sanitary sewer system in the FMBSD. The January 31, 1973 Resolution authorizing the "general obligations of the District" irrevocably pledged the full faith, credit and unlimited taxing power of Lee County "within the District" for prompt payment of the principal and interest on the general obligation bonds. The Resolution provided that special ad valorem taxes would be levied on properties within the FMBSD to finance a sewer system for the FMBSD. (A/E. J)

The general obligation bonds were validated by the circuit court on June 11, 1973, and were finally issued on September 1, 1977. They were designated as the "Fort Myers Beach Sewer District General Obligation Bonds."

-5-

According to the terms of the Bonds, the amount of the annual tax could be reduced in any year by the amount of the net revenues derived from the operation of the sanitary sewer system and by the amount of the proceeds of special assessments levied against benefited properties actually received in the preceding year and then remaining to the credit of the Sinking Fund for the payment of such principal and interest. (A/E. J)

Because the estimated cost of constructing the sewer facility for the FMBSD had increased from \$8,930,000 to \$15,900,000, the Board adopted Resolution No. 126-67-44 on June 16, 1977, pursuant to Chapter 153, Florida Statutes, authorizing the issuance of special assessment bonds not to exceed \$3,770,000 to pay part of the increased cost. The Resolution provided that the cost of constructing the sewer facilities to serve the FMBSD would be assessed against the lands to be specially benefited by the facili-According to the Resolution, the facilities were to ties. be constructed "for the benefit of the inhabitants of Fort Myers Beach Sewer District." Furthermore, all of the proceeds of the special assessments and the gross revenues from the operation of the facilities were expressly pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds authorized by the Resolution. The FMBSD applied for and received a local governmental agency loan from the Division of Bond Finance in the amount of \$13,958,700.00

-6-

to supply a portion of the cost of constructing the sewer facilities. (A/E. K)

The sewer system paid for by and constructed for the inhabitants of the FMBSD was one of only two complete sewer systems in the unincorporated areas of Lee County. The FMBSD system contained both a collection system and a treatment plant. The systems in other parts of the unincorporated areas of the County were incomplete and had collection systems only. Sewage from all of the incomplete county systems was treated at the two City of Fort Myers treatment plants. (A/T. 15)

# C. <u>THE PURPORTED CREATION OF THE "COMBINED AND CONSOLI-</u> DATED" WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM OF LEE COUNTY.

The Board adopted Resolution 78-5-34 on May 25, 1984, which purported to combine and consolidate the FMBSD sewer system, paid for by and constructed to serve the inhabitants of the District, with the water and sewer systems of the County and the South Fort Myers Sewer District ("SFMSD"). (A/E. N) The "combined and consolidated" system was created only by virtue of the resolution and not pursuant to adoption of an ordinance. No referendum was held on the consolidation question. (A/T. 93-98)

According to the County, Resolution 78-5-34 was adopted primarily for financing purposes, with the idea that consolidating all of the sewer systems in the unincorporated areas of the County into one entity would

-7-

place the County in a stronger financial position for future bond issues to finance the construction of a system to serve the entire unincorporated area of the County. The ability to pledge revenue bond issues against the combined revenues from the consolidated systems would strengthen the County's position to obtain lower interest rates, more favorable bond ratings, and bond insurance. (A/T. 15-17, 91)

The County has never made any equitable arrangements concerning the bonded indebtedness of the FMBSD in connection with or pursuant to the creation of the "combined and consolidated" system. In fact, at the bond validation hearing, Lavon Wisher, the County Administrator, and Allan Borwick, Lee County's Senior Budget Analyst with the Office of Management and Budget, both testified that the County made no special provision for altering the obligations for the payment of the general obligation bonds and special assessment bonds issued for the FMBSD when the FMBSD was consolidated with the County system and the SFMSD. (A/T. 93, 114)

#### D. <u>THE 1984 REVENUE BONDS TO FINANCE IMPROVEMENTS</u> TO THE "COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED" COUNTY SYSTEM.

The Board adopted Resolution No. 84-4-25 on April 25, 1984, authorizing the issuance of Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1984, not exceeding \$13,500,000 to finance the construction of additions, extensions and improvements

-8-

to the "combined and consolidated water and sewer system" of the County. (A/E. A) More specifically, the Revenue Bonds are to finance construction of a county-wide administrative complex and a new sludge treatment facility. The residents of the County, including residents of FMBSD, will be charged for use of the new treatment facility in accordance with rates to be established by the County. (A/T. 31-32) The Resolution pledges the revenues from the five systems in the unincorporated area of the County which were consolidated in 1978 to create the "combined and consolidated" county water and sewer system, including the FMBSD system, to secure payment of the Revenue Bonds.

The testimony given by Robert H. French at the final bond validation hearing reveals that prior to adopting Resolution 84-4-25, the Board did <u>not</u> publish notice and hold a public hearing on a proposed rate schedule for the proposed new treatment facility, nor did the County ever adopt a resolution containing a preliminary schedule of rates, fees and charges for the proposed facility. (A/T. 33-34) Also, Resolution 84-4-25 does not contain any rate schedule for the facility. (A/E. A)

-9-

#### ARGUMENT

Ι.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN VALIDATING THE BONDS BECAUSE THE BOARD ADOPTED RESOLUTION NO. 84-4-25 IN VIOLATION OF THE RATE SCHEDULE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 153.11, FLORIDA STATUTES.

Bonds may lawfully be issued only when statutory authority is complied with, <u>Ingram v. City of Palmetto</u>, 112 So. 861 (Fla. 1927), and substantial compliance with the statutes regulating such issue is essential to the right of a county to issue bonds. <u>Hillsborough County v.</u> <u>Henderson</u>, 33 So. 997 (Fla. 1903).

A petition for validation of governmental securities brings into question the right and authority of the taxing unit to issue the bonds and whether the issuance of the bonds substantially complies with the requirements of the statutes authorizing issuance of the bonds. Proceedings to validate governmental securities determine issues going directly to the power to issue securities and the validity of the proceedings with relation thereto. <u>Speer v. Olson</u>, 367 So. 2d 207, 210 (Fla. 1978); <u>State v. City of</u> Sarasota, 17 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1944).

In this case, the County has failed to comply with the applicable statutory requirements. <u>Resolution No.</u> <u>84-4-25 authorizing the issuance of the 1984 Revenue Bonds</u> <u>does not contain a schedule of rates, fees and charges,</u> as required under Section 153.11(1) and (3), Florida <u>Statutes</u>. (A/E. A) At no time prior to the adoption of Resolution No. 84-4-25 did Lee County adopt any resolution setting forth the mandatory rate schedules. Lee County's failure to comply with Section 153.11(1) and (3) requires reversal of the lower court's Final Judgment validating the Bonds.

## A. <u>RESOLUTION NO. 84-4-25 VIOLATES THE REQUIREMENTS OF</u> <u>SECTION 153.11(1)(a), FLORIDA STATUTES</u>.

The Board purported to adopt Resolution No. 84-4-25 authorizing the issuance of the Revenue Bonds, pursuant to Part I of Chapter 153, Florida Statutes. Consequently, the validation of the Revenue Bonds requires substantial compliance with the requirements of Chapter 153, Florida Statutes, for the issuance of such Bonds.

Chapter 153 provides the County with the authority to issue water and sewer bonds by resolution of the Board. <u>See</u> Sections 153.06, 153.09 and 153.091, Florida Statutes. Section 153.11(1)(a), Fla. Stat. sets forth the requirement that the Board

> shall in the resolution providing for the issuance of either water revenue bonds or sewer revenue bonds, or both, fix the initial schedule of rates, fees and other charges for the use of and for the services furnished or to be furnished by the facilities, to be paid by the owner, tenant or occupant of each lot or parcel of land which may be connected with and use any such facility by or through any part of the water system of the county.

Importantly, the provisions for fixing the rate schedule in the resolution are not merely directory, but they are strictly mandatory, and their performance is essential to the issuance of water and sewer revenue bonds. <u>Cf. State v. Shields</u>, 140 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962).

Under the statutory framework of Chapter 75, validation of the bonds requires proof of the County's authority for incurring the bonded debt, the resolution authorizing the issue and its adoption, and all other essential proceedings had or taken in connection therewith. <u>See Sec-</u> tion 75.04, Florida Statutes. Under the statutory framework of Chapter 153, the issuance of the bonds is authorized by resolution of the Board, and it is essential and mandatory that the resolution of the Board fix a schedule of rates, fees and charges.

<u>Hillsborough County v. Henderson</u>, 33 So. 997 (Fla. 1903), involved a bond resolution which did not determine the specific interest rate as required by statute, but instead set a maximum interest rate. The Court held that the bond resolution was fatally defective because it did not comply with the statute. According to the Court, a provision which leaves for future determination the precise rate of interest to be paid, merely limiting the range of discretion to be exercised by those who shall ultimately fix it, cannot be said to determine the rate. 33 So. at 998. The Court observed that if the Board could

-12-

lawfully reserve for future determination by itself the interest which the bonds shall bear, it could also reserve any or all of the other matters required to be fixed in the resolution. <u>Id</u>. The Court held that the statute could not be so nullified, recognizing that the resolution for the issue of bonds must determine those things required by law to be fixed therein, and not merely present an alternative for future decision. <u>Id</u>. Accordingly, the Court entered a decree perpetually enjoining the proposed issue of bonds.

Similarly, in City of Ft. Myers v. State, 117 So. 97 (1928), the procedures for issuing public improvement bonds were set forth in a statute which required the adoption of two resolutions. One resolution, containing specified mandatory elements, including the improvements with reference to a bona fide cost estimate, determined that the public improvements should be made. The second resolution provided for issuance of the bonds. Id. at 103. The Court determined that the first resolution did not show on its face that the estimated cost was a reasonable bona fide estimate as required by statute. After determining that the question of whether the resolutions satisfied the statutory requirements was an issue which could properly be tested in a proceeding to validate, Id. at 102, the Court held that not only was the resolution determining to make the public improvements void, but the resolution providing for the bond issue was also void

-13-

because it was predicated upon the unauthorized cost estimate and the unauthorized resolution containing the improper estimate. Id. at 103.

The Court regarded the contents of the resolution determining to make the public improvements and the resolution to issue the bonds as determinative of not only the legality and regularity of the bonds in question, <u>but of</u> <u>the power of the City to issue them as well</u>. Therefore, these statutory requirements were "necessary jurisdictional prerequisites to their validity." <u>Id</u>. Accordingly, the decree denying the petition to validate was affirmed.

The Court in <u>Bruns v. County Water-Sewer District</u>, 354 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 1977) held that the failure of the county to comply with the statutory procedures for the creation of the District which was attempting to issue revenue bonds precluded validation of the bonds. The Court rejected arguments that the failure to publish an estoppel notice upon creating the District did not constitute a "legally material irregularity" in the proceedings and that substantial compliance with all other statutory requirements would suffice. <u>Id</u>. at 863. The Court viewed the statutory requirement of an estoppel notice as "imperative to the protections which the statute provides to the public," and reversed the lower court's judgment validating the Revenue Bonds. Id.

Section 153.11 was enacted for the protection of the public by affording to the owners, tenants and occupants

-14-

of property served or to be served by the facilities and all others interested in the opportunity to be heard concerning the fees, rates and charges for use of the facilities. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Bruns v. County Water-Sewer District</u>, <u>supra</u>. The rate schedule requirement is a statutory directive and is an essential prerequisite to the issuance of the Revenue Bonds. Lee County's failure to comply with Section 153.11 constitutes an irregularity and illegality in the proceedings to issue the Bonds which precluded their validation by the lower court. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Hills-</u> <u>borough County v. Henderson</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>City of Ft. Myers v.</u> State, <u>supra</u>.

B. <u>THE COUNTY FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE NOTICE AND</u> <u>AND HEARING REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 153.11, FLORIDA</u> <u>STATUTES, PRIOR TO ADOPTING RESOLUTION NO. 84-4-25.</u>

Section 153.11(3)(a), Florida Statutes, provides:

No rates, fees or charges shall be fixed under the foregoing provisions of this section until after a public hearing at which all of the users of the facilities provided by this chapter and owners, tenants and occupants of property served or to be served thereby and all others interested shall have an opportunity to be heard concerning the proposed rates, fees and charges. After the adoption by the county commission of a resolution setting forth the preliminary schedule or schedules fixing and classifying such rates, fees and charges, notice of such public hearing setting forth the schedule or schedules of rates, fees and charges shall be given by one publication in a newspaper published in the county at least 10 days before the date fixed in said notice for the hearing, which said hearing may be adjourned from time to

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