IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL A. YAKUBIK, DONALD S.)
AUSTIN, GARRETT REASONER,
PETER E. BRIGHT, ELIZABETH
STUTZMAN, PORTIA VON GUNTEN,
MAURICE THOMMASSIN, FENNELL
PHILLIPS AND CITIZENS ACTION
FUND, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee.

FILED

NOV 26 1984

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 66,004

CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 84-2145CA-RTS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JAMES G. YAEGER, ESQUIRE COUNTY ATTORNEY Post Office Box 398 Fort Myers, Florida 33902 Telephone (813) 335-2236

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee, Lee County, Florida, was the plaintiff below, having filed its Complaint for validation of its not exceeding \$13,500,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1984, on May 10, 1984 pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes. An order to show cause was entered by the Court on May 16, 1984 and publicamade in compliance with Section 75.06(1), Florida tion was No issue is presented in this case regarding the regularity of the order to show cause or its publication. Attorney for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit timely filed his Answer. On June 28, 1984, the date of the final hearing, Appellants intervened in the proceeding by filing their Answer to the Complaint. The Court determined to postpone the hearing until August 2, 1984.

Appellee filed a motion on July 10, 1984, to strike the affirmative defenses asserted by Appellants and on July 24, 1984, Appellants moved the Court for leave to amend their Answer to add additional affirmative defenses.

On August 2, 1984, a lengthy hearing on Appellee's Complaint was held before Robert T. Shafer, Jr., Circuit Judge. At the hearing, the Court granted Appellants' motion to add additional affirmative defenses and, in addition, granted Appellants' motion to add an additional defendant. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Court reserved ruling on the issues raised in order

to take under consideration the arguments and evidence presented. On September 10, 1984, the Court entered a Final Judgment validating Appellee's 1984 Bonds, stating with respect to the issues raised by Appellants that their Answer and Amended Answer "show no cause why the prayer of the Plaintiff should not be granted" and, further, that "the objections contained in the Answer and the Amendment thereto are hereby overruled and dismissed".

Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on October 8, 1984.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1984, Board of On April 24, Appellee's Commissioners adopted Resolution No. 84-4-25 (hereinafter called "1984 Resolution") authorizing the issuance of Appellee's Revenue Bonds. Series 1984 \$13,500,000 Water and Sewer (hereinafter called the "1984 Bonds") for the purpose financing the acquisition and construction of improvements to Appellee's combined and consolidated water and sewer system. (Applant App. A) Specifically, such improvements consist of (1) the construction of an administrative complex to house Appellee's Division of Environmental Protection Services (the division that administers the County's water and wastewater distribution and collection systems and treatment plants) (Tr. 11) and (2) the construction of a regional sludge processing facility. The 1984 Resolution was adopted pursuant to Chapter 153, Part I, Florida Statutes (hereinafter referred to as "Part I"). terms, the 1984 Resolution is supplemental to a resolution adopted by Appellee's Board of County Commissioners on April 27, 1966, as amended (hereinafter called the "Original Resolution"). (Applee App. 1) The 1984 Resolution incorporates the covenants and provisions of the Original Resolution by reference. Bonds, when issued, will be payable from and secured by a pledge of and lien upon the revenues of Appellee's combined and consolidated water and sewer system on a parity with the outstanding

bonds of an issue of \$3,300,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, dated November 1, 1976 (hereinafter called the "1976 Bonds"); an issue of \$4,800,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1978 (hereinafter called the "1978 Bonds"); an issue of \$5,000,000 Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1979A (hereinafter called the "1979A Bonds"), and an issue of \$15,917,000 Water and Sewer Bonds, Series 1979B (hereinafter called the "1979B Bonds"). Appellee's 1976 Bonds were authorized by Resolution No. 76-12-23, adopted by Appellee's Board of County Commissioners on December 29, 1976, as amended (hereinafter called the "1976 Resolution"). (Applee App. 2) The 1978 Bonds were authorized by Resolution No. 78-7-10, adopted by the Board on July 5, 1978, as amended (hereinafter called the "1978 Resolution"). (Applee App. 3) Appellee's 1979A Bonds were authorized by Resolution No. 79-7-11, adopted on July 11, 1979, as amended (hereinafter called the "1979A Resolution") (Applee App. 4) Appellee's 1979B Bonds were authorized by Resolution No. 79-7-12, also adopted on amended (hereinafter called the July 11, 1979, as Resolution"). (Applee App. 5)

Appellee's 1976 Resolution, 1978 Resolution, 1979A
Resolution and 1979B Resolution were adopted under the authority
of Part I and were, by their terms, supplemental to the Original
Resolution. Each of the aforesaid resolutions specifically
incorporated the covenants and provisions of the Original

Resolution by reference. The Original Resolution authorized the issuance of Appellee's Water System Revenue Bonds (hereinafter called the "1966 Bonds"). The 1966 Bonds were payable from and secured by a pledge of and lien upon the revenues of Appellee's Section 4.08 of the Original Resolution provided, water system. however, that in the event Appellee acquired a sewer system and determined to combine the water system and the sewer system into a single combined water and sewer system and to issue additional bonds payable on a parity with the 1966 Bonds secured by a lien upon the revenues of the combined water and sewer system, the revenues of such combined system shall be pledged to the 1966 Bonds and all additional bonds payable on a parity with the 1966 Section 4.09 of the Original Resolution established cer-Bonds. tain financial tests for the issuance of additional bonds to be payable on a parity with the 1966 Bonds. Appellee's 1976 Bonds, 1978 Bonds, 1979A Bonds and 1979B Bonds were issued as additional bonds under Section 4.09 of the Original Resolution and are secured by a lien upon and pledge of the revenues of Appellee's combined and consolidated water and sewer system. Appellee's 1976 Bonds, 1978 Bonds, 1979A Bonds and 1979B Bonds were validated by final judgments entered in the Circuit Court in and for Lee County. (Applee Apps. 6, 7 and 8)

Appellee's combined and consolidated water and sewer system presently consists of five utility systems combined into

one for the purposes of management, financing and other purposes. (Tr. 15) The five systems are (i) the Matlacha sewer system, a small collection system with a treatment plant; (ii) the East Lee County sewer system consisting of a collection system; (iii) the South Fort Myers sewer system which is a collection system; (iv) the Fort Myers Beach sewer system consisting of a complete collection system and a treatment plant, and (v) the water system which consists of two primary water treatment plants. (Tr. 15)

The water system was initially financed by the proceeds of the 1966 Bonds. (Tr. 39)

In the late 1960s, Appellee's consulting engineers and financial consultants participated in the development of overall plan for financing sewer projects in Lee County. It was determined that sewer projects could not be supported by user charges alone, so a financing plan was devised whereby sewer projects would be financed by a combination of ad valorem taxes, the levy and collection of special assessments and sewer rates and charges. (Tr. 47)The sewer rates were to be set to provide only for the payment of the operating expenses. (Tr. 47) By the early 1970s, Appellee's Board of County Commissioners had created nine separate sewer districts to implement the financing (Tr. 83) Each of the districts were created by resolution after public hearings. (Tr. 83) The districts were created for the purpose of providing sewer services to the inhabitants of the

defined areas. (Tr. 84) The Fort Myers Beach Sewer District (hereinafter called "FMBSD") was created by resolution of Appellee's Board of County Commissioners on August 16, 1972 (Applant App. H) On December 5, 1972, a bond election was held in each of the districts on the question whether general obligation bonds of Appellee should be issued to finance the cost of the acquisition and construction of a sewer system within the area of each of the districts. (Tr. 84) Two of the nine bond issues were approved by the voters; the other seven bond issues were defeated. (Tr. 85) The residents of the area comprising FMBSD authorized the issuance of \$8,930,000 General Obligation Bonds by Appellee. (Applant App. I) (Tr. 85)

Appellee's General Obligation Bonds were issued pursuant to a resolution adopted on January 3, 1977, as amended and supplemented (hereinafter called the "General Obligation Bond Resolution"). (Applee App. 9) Cited as authority for the adoption of the General Obligation Bond Resolution and the issuance of the General Obligation Bonds was Part I, specifically Section 153.08 thereof. The General Obligation Bond Resolution provides that the General Obligation Bonds shall be payable from and secured by the full faith, credit and unlimited taxing power of the County within FMBSD. Revenues of the sewer system constructed within FMBSD are not pledged to the payment of the General Obligation Bonds. (Tr. 77) Section 12 of the General

Obligation Bond Resolution, as amended by Resolution No. 77-8-20, adopted on August 24, 1977, provides that the revenues of the sewer system <u>may</u> be used to reduce the ad valorem taxes in any year only after Appellee shall have made an <u>irrevocable election</u> to apply such revenues. (Applee App. 10) The General Obligation Bonds are outstanding in the principal amount of \$8,420,000 (Applant App. J) and are currently being paid from ad valorem taxes levied annually within FMBSD. (Tr. 41, 103)

Appellee subsequently issued its \$3,770,000 Assessment Bonds to pay for a part of the cost of the sewer system constructed within the area of FMBSD. (Tr. The Special Assessment Bonds were authorized to be issued Resolution No. 77-6-10, adopted on June 16, 1977, as amended (hereinafter called the "Special Assessment Bond Resolution"). Part I was cited as authority for the issuance (Applee App. 11) of the bonds in the Special Assessment Bond Resolution. Special Assessment Bonds were payable from and secured solely by a lien upon and pledge of special assessments levied upon properties within FMBSD specially benefited by the construction of the sewer system (Tr. 54) Revenues of the sewer system were not pledged to the Special Assessment Bonds. (Tr. 77) The Special Assessment Bond Resolution was amended by Resolution No. 79-2-75, adopted on February 28, 1979, prior to the issuance of the Special Assessment Bonds, specifically for the purpose

deleting a pledge of the revenues of the sewer system. (Applee App. 12) The Special Assessment Bonds have been paid. (Tr. 41, 54) Unpaid assessments are still being collected by Appellee, however. (Tr. 54, 103)

Appellee combined the sewer system within FMBSD and the South Fort Myers sewer system into the combined and consolidated water and sewer system of the County by Resolution No. 78-5-34, adopted on May 25, 1978. (Applant App. N) Previously, on September 29, 1976, by Resolution No. 76-9-33, Appellee had combined sewer systems to be constructed in North Fort Myers and East Lee County and the existing county owned and operated water system into a combined water and sewer system in those areas. (Applee App. 13) The intent of Appellee's Board of County Commissioners, as stated in Resolution No. 78-5-34, was to create a single county-wide system to best serve the water and sewer needs of the inhabitants of the entire unincorporated area of the (Applant App. N., Section 3) The purpose of the combination and consolidation of the sewer systems into the combined utility was to provide a more efficient operation by combining the administrative functions and to provide a mechanism for marketing bonds to finance capital projects. (Tr. 16) Resolution No. 76-9-33 combining the initial two sewer systems and the water system into a combined water and sewer system was adopted prior to the issuance of Appellee's 1976 Bonds; similarly, Resolution No. 78-5-34, combining the remaining two sewer systems into the combined water and sewer system was adopted prior to Appellee's issuance of its 1978 Bonds.

Although the sewer systems were consolidated financing reasons (Tr. 91), Appellee maintains the financial integrity of each of the five different utility systems that comprise the combined water and sewer system. (Tr. 16) are segregated and charged to the particular system that incurs the benefit from each expenditure. (Tr. 16) Personnel time, for instance, is charged specifically by system through Appellee's positive time accounting system. (Tr. 16) Some overhead functions are carried as a separate fund but are charged back to each of the five separate utility systems based on benefit derived from such overhead function. (Tr. 16) The purpose for keeping Appellee's records in such manner is to allow Appellee to provide a mechanism for establishing and charging rates and charges that are equitable to each of the five systems, such that each system pays for the services it receives and receives income in association with expenditures it makes. (Tr. 17) With respect to the debt service associated with Appellee's outstanding revenue bonds, debt service is charged to specific systems. (Tr. 19) For example, debt service associated with the water plant expansion would be charged solely to the users of the water system in levying rates and recovering the cost of the debt service.

(Tr. 19) The same premise applies to rates charged to the users of the sewer system within FMBSD. (Tr. 19) The users of the system within FMBSD are <u>not</u> charged a debt service component for Appellee's outstanding revenue bonds. (Tr. 78) Even though the revenues of the sewer system within FMBSD are pledged to the payment of Appellee's outstanding revenue bonds, as are the revenues of all five of Appellee's sytems (Tr. 58), the users of the sewer system within FMBSD have never been charged a debt service component to pay the debt service on Appellee's outstanding revenue bonds. (Tr. 78)

Appellee has been levying rates, fees and charges for the water system since June 1, 1966. (Applee App. 14) Recent rates for the water system were established by Resolution No. 80-8-19 (Applee App. 15) and connection fees were established by Resolution No. 80-8-20. (Applee App. 16) Both resolutions were adopted on August 20, 1980. The rates for the water system were subsequently amended by Resolution 83-4-35, adopted on April 27, 1983. (Applee App. 17) Rates for sewer services of the sewer system within FMBSD were initially established by Resolution No. 77-3-25 adopted on March 25, 1977. (Applee App. 18)

POINTS PRESENTED

Point I

APPELLEE'S 1984 RESOLUTION NEED NOT AND CANNOT FIX THE INITIAL SCHEDULE OF RATES, FEES AND OTHER CHARGES FOR THE SERVICES OF ITS COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM

Point II

APPELLEE'S WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM WAS LAWFULLY COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED

Point III

REVENUES OF THE SEWER SYSTEM WITHIN FMBSD WERE NOT PLEDGED TO GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OR SPECIAL ASSESSMENT BONDS

Point IV

APPELLANTS ARE ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING THE WRONGFUL CONSOLIDATION OF APPELLEE'S WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM

POINT I

APPELLEE'S 1984 RESOLUTION NEED NOT AND CANNOT FIX THE INITIAL SCHEDULE OF RATES, FEES AND OTHER CHARGES FOR THE SERVICES OF ITS COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM

Part I, in Section 153.06 thereof, authorizes counties to issue water revenue bonds, sewer revenue bonds or general obligation bonds for the purpose of financing the cost of water and sewer systems and additions, extensions and improvements Section 153.09 sets forth certain provisions to be thereto. included in the authorizing resolution and in either the water revenue bonds or the sewer revenue bonds. Section 153.091(1) specifically authorizes the issuance of water and sewer revenue bonds for the purpose of financing the construction, acquisition or improvement of water systems and sewer systems which have been combined by the county. Section 153.091(2) provides that all of the provisions of the chapter with respect to water systems and improvements and sewer systems and improvements, water revenue bonds and sewer revenue bonds shall apply to combined systems and to water and sewer revenue bonds to the extent the same are applicable in the event the county has combined its water system and its sewer system into a combined water and sewer system.

Section 153.11 authorizes counties to fix rates, fees and charges for the use of the services to be provided by the

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